ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_

Certiorari to Spartanburg County

Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

\_\_\_\_\_

ALFRED GUY HENSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2017-001273

\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

\_\_\_\_\_

LAURA R. BAER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

JAN 31 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUES PRESENTED**

I.

Whether the PCR court erred in ruling that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel, as required under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, where the PCR court aptly found that trial counsel was deficient in failing to preserve the suppression issue for direct appeal but erred in its finding that there was no prejudice to Petitioner?

II.

Whether the PCR court erred in ruling that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel, as required under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, where the PCR court aptly found that trial counsel was deficient in unnecessarily calling deputy Wilson as a witness for the defense, losing last closing argument, but erred in its finding that there was no prejudice to Petitioner?

III.

Whether the PCR court erred in ruling that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel, as required under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, where the PCR court erred in finding that trial counsel was not deficient in stipulating to Petitioner's prior burglary convictions, at least one of which was uncounseled and resulted in imprisonment, and erred in its finding that there was no prejudice to Petitioner?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 18, 2011, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury returned an indictment against Petitioner Alfred Henson for grand larceny. App. 431. Henson was also indicted for first degree burglary specifying only that Henson was armed with a deadly weapon. App. 6, l. 3 – 8, l. 14; App. 335, ll. 16-23. On September 19, 2011, the Grand Jury returned an amended indictment against Henson for first degree burglary, which listed all potential variations of first degree burglary. App. 429.

On October 10-11, 2011,<sup>1</sup> Henson appeared for trial before the Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. Henson was represented by Max Singleton,<sup>2</sup> and the State was represented by assistant solicitor Timi Poulos. App. 1. The jury convicted Henson of both offenses. App. 286, l. 22 – 287, l. 7. Judge Couch sentenced Henson to serve concurrent terms of twenty years for burglary and ten years for grand larceny. App. 293, l. 19 – 294, l. 7.

Henson filed a notice of appeal, but his later motion to withdraw the appeal was granted and the appeal was dismissed. App. 296. The remittitur was filed on September 14, 2012. App. 297.

---

<sup>1</sup> The October 10, 2011 trial transcript contains a scrivener’s error listing the trial year as 2012. App. 1. The accurate year, 2011, is properly listed on the transcript of the second day of trial and by the petit jury foreperson’s signature on the indictments. App. 197; App. 429; App. 431.

<sup>2</sup> Max Singleton is currently suspended from the practice of law in South Carolina pursuant to this Court’s opinion in In re Singleton, 412 S.C. 316772 S.E.2d 267 (2015). Singleton previously received a public reprimand in In re Singleton, 395 S.C. 521, 719 S.E.2d 667 (2011), and a 2012 letter of caution. Singleton was recently held ineffective in the case of Briggs v. State, 421 S.C. 316, 806 S.E.2d 713 (2017) (holding that Singleton was deficient in his examination of “forensic interviewer” and that his deficient performance prejudiced defendant).

On April 25, 2013, Henson filed his application for post-conviction relief. App. 298. The State filed its return on May 8, 2014. App. 306. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Frank R. Addy on November 9, 2016. Henson was represented by J. Falkner Wilkes, and the State was represented by assistant attorney general Alicia Olive. App. 312. The witnesses at the hearing included Henson, trial counsel Max Singleton, former trial counsel Matthew Shealy, and assistant solicitor Timi Poulos. App. 313. Following the hearing, both parties submitted a post-trial memorandum for the PCR court's consideration. App. 410 (State's memo); Supp App. 1 (Applicant's memo).

On May 23, 2017, Judge Addy filed an Order of Dismissal denying Henson's application for relief. App. 414.

This appeal follows.

## RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

A criminal defendant is guaranteed the right to effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). Courts evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel using a two-pronged test. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. at 668). First, the applicant must demonstrate counsel's representation was deficient, which is measured by an objective standard of reasonableness. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88. “Under this prong, “[t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688). Second, the applicant must demonstrate he was prejudiced by counsel's performance in such a manner that, but for counsel's error, there is a reasonable probability the result of the proceedings would have been different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id.

While this Court gives great deference to a PCR judge's findings of fact, Dempsey v. State, 363 S.C. 365, 368, 610 S.E.2d 812, 814 (2005), “[a] PCR judge's findings will not be upheld if such findings are not supported by probative evidence.” Horton v. State, 306 S.C. 252, 255, 411 S.E.2d 223, 225 (1991) (emphasis added); Gallman v. State, 307 S.C. 273, 277, 414 S.E.2d 780, 782 (1992). Further, the Court will review questions of law *de novo*, and reverse the decision of the PCR court when it is controlled by an error of law.” Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013).

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The PCR court erred in ruling that trial counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel, as required under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, where the PCR court aptly found that trial counsel was deficient in failing to preserve the suppression issue for direct appeal but erred in its finding that there was no prejudice to Petitioner.**

#### *Relevant Facts*

The prosecution's case against Petitioner Henson was entirely circumstantial. Leslie Ofori was home on the afternoon of Monday, November 8, 2010, when she went upstairs at about 1:00 or 1:15 p.m. to take a ten minute shower. While in the shower, Ofori thought she could feel the vibrations of someone walking downstairs. She thought that her husband may have returned from work early. Once she turned the water off she thought that she heard footsteps and called out for her husband. Things went silent and then she felt the vibrations of walking resume, followed by the chirp of her alarm system, indicating a door was opened. While getting dressed, she heard a motor crank. As she came down the steps Ofori could see a moped leaving the end of her driveway. She could not provide any specific description of the moped or the person driving it. Ofori called her husband and a friend to tell them about her suspicion that someone had been in the house, but she did not call police because there was evidence anything was taken. She did note that the door from the mudroom to the garage was open, and that she recalled it being closed earlier in the morning. App. 97, l. 12 – 102, l. 10; 110, l. 3 – 117, l. 22; App. 188, ll. 7-12.

Earlier that day, at approximately 12:30 p.m. that day, Henson pulled into the parking lot of a convenience store on his moped, where he approached deputy Jason Wilson. Henson told Wilson he thought he was someone else and walked away. Wilson asked Henson for his name,

but Henson would not tell him anything more than “Al.” Wilson returned inside where he and other deputies determined Henson’s full name and learned that his driver’s license was suspended. Henson did not have the separate moped license required under the law. App. 32, l. 6 – 33, l. 11. After determining Henson’s home address, Wilson and another deputy were on “routine patrol” in the same area. App. 33, ll. 12-20; App. 37, l. 2 – 38, l. 9; App. 46, ll. 2-10. At 1:52 p.m., Wilson saw Henson on his moped in his rearview mirror and turned around to initiate a traffic stop. According to Wilson, as he pulled into Henson’s driveway and activated his blue lights, he saw Henson throw what he recognized as an expensive digital camera under a parked car on the property. Henson was immediately handcuffed and arrested for the license offense. App. 33, l. 12 – 43, l. 5. Other deputies reached under the car and pulled out the digital camera and three cards – one debit and two credit – with the names Leslie Ofori and Leslie Robinson printed on them. One of the cards also had a small photograph of a black female. App. 43, ll. 10-14; App. 51, l. 24 – 52, l. 1; App. 144, ll. 9-12; App. 148, ll. 1-12; App. 154, ll. 16-23; App. 161, l. 22 – 162, l. 6.

Wilson called Sergeant Travis Barnette, who came to Henson’s property. After some brief small talk with Henson, Barnette was shown the camera and cards found under the car. Approximately five to ten minutes later, he went to what they determined was Ofori’s home address. Barnette asked Ofori if she was familiar with Alfred Henson, who drove a moped. Ofori told him that she did not know Henson but had seen a moped in her driveway earlier. Barnette then asked her if she was missing a camera or debit/credit cards. She checked and was unable to find her husband’s digital camera and discovered that her entire wallet was missing from her purse. App. 51, l. 6 – 60, l. 8. Ofori last recalled using her debit card at her doctor’s office on Tuesday of the week prior and the camera was last used to photograph her nephew’s

high school football game. She could not recall whether the football game was the Friday prior to the incident or even earlier. App. 117, l. 23 – 119, l. 18; App. 194, ll. 3-14. Approximately one week after the incident, Ofori received her wallet and the remainder of its contents in the mail. It was purportedly found in the driveway of a chiropractor who lived off of the same main road as Ofori's neighborhood. App. 124, l. 4 – 127, l. 4. Ofori's house was processed for evidence and a photograph was taken of one of several shoe prints. App. 178, l. 18 – 180, l. 23; App. 210, l. 19-23; App. 212, l. 22 – 213, l. 8. While Henson wore a size 10 Timberland boot, Ofori's husband owned size 13 Timberland boots. App. 130, ll. 5-13; App. 131, ll. 5-9; App. 211, ll. 11-21. The photograph taken of one of the foot prints did not reveal the size or brand of the shoe that made them, and the State provided no expert in shoe print analysis. App. 188, l. 24 – 189, l. 9; App. 215, ll. 6-19.

Trial counsel made a pre-trial motion to suppress the camera, debit card, and credit cards seized taken from the under the car on Henson's property. App. 61 – 75. The trial judge denied the motion, ruling that the officers were properly on Henson's property conducting a lawful traffic stop and that the items under the case were in plain view. He reasoned that "a viewing of those items would have indicated that there was a possibility or potential for criminal activity that would require additional investigation." App. 76, ll. 10-18. He further found that upon seeing the item thrown under the car, the officers had a right to look at it "for officer safety." App. 76, ll. 18-23. Trial counsel had argued that the plain view doctrine was inapplicable because the incriminating nature of the items was no apparent without taking them out from under the car for further examination, i.e. turning on the camera to look at the photographs and reading the information on the debit and credit cards. App. 67, l. 8 – 71, l. 15; App. 73, l. 2 – 75, l. 15. Notably, there was no evidence presented at the pre-trial hearing that the reason for

looking under the car was related to safety; rather, deputy Wilson said they wanted to determine ownership of the items. App. 42, ll. 18-19; App. 45, ll. 15-23.

Trial counsel failed to renew his objection to evidence of the camera and cards when they were first discussed at trial. App. 102, ll. 16-24. He responded “no objection” when the prosecution offered photographs of the items into evidence. App. 105, l. 15 – 106, l. 8.

At the PCR hearing, both Henson and trial counsel recalled that their main defense rested upon the suppression of the seized items, without which the prosecution’s case would have collapsed. App. 324, l. 22 – 325, l. 7; App. 344, ll. 10-14. Nonetheless, trial counsel failed to renew his objection to the evidence. App. 333, ll. 2-20; App. 353, l. 25 – 356, l. 22. While counsel did not think that the trial judge’s *in limine* ruling would have changed had he renewed his objection, the consequence of his failure to object was a lack of issue preservation for direct appeal. App. 360, l. 21 – 361, l. 2.

In the Order of Dismissal, the PCR court found that trial counsel “was deficient for failing to object, this rendering the [suppression] issue unpreserved for appellate review.” App. 421. However, the court found that “there is no reasonable probability that but for counsel’s unprofessional error, the result of the proceedings would have been different.” App. 421. The PCR court found that the search fell under the plain view exception to the warrant requirement and that Henson had no reasonable expectation of privacy in the area searched. App. 421 – 422. Additionally, the PCR court found that trial court’s findings would be reversed only “due to clear error” such that, even if preserved for appellate review, there was no reasonable probability that Henson would have prevailed on appeal. App. 422.

### *Discussion*

“A ruling *in limine* is not final; unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling procured, the issue is not preserved for review.” State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 522 S.E.2d 598 (1999). Here, the PCR court properly found that trial counsel was deficient in failing to renew his objection to the admission of evidence of the camera and debit and credit cards seized following Henson’s arrest. See McHam v. State, 404 S.C. 465, 474, 746 S.E.2d 41, 46 (2013) (finding counsel’s failure to renew the Fourth Amendment objection constituted deficient performance that satisfies the first prong of the Strickland test).

Under the second prong of Strickland, the PCR applicant “must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” Id. This requires the PCR court to review the potential merits of the claim that was left unpreserved for appellate review. See McHam, 404 S.C. at 481-82, 746 S.E.2d at 50 (finding that even if trial counsel had renewed his motion in order to preserve the issue, McHam did not show a reasonable probability that the outcome of the trial would have been different because his Fourth Amendment claim fails on its merits). Here, the PCR court erred in its analysis of the merits of Henson’s suppression motion.

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002) (citations omitted). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court’s ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000) (citation omitted). When

reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. State v. Missouri, 361 S.C. 107, 111, 603 S.E.2d 594, 596 (2004) (citation omitted). “The appellate court will reverse only when there is clear error.” Id. (citation omitted).

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right of the people to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures and provides that no warrants shall be issued except upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized. U.S. Const. amend. IV. “A search compromises the individual interest in privacy; a seizure deprives the individual of dominion over his or her person or property.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011) (quoting Horton v. California, 496 U.S. 128, 133 (1990)). “Warrantless searches and seizures are unreasonable absent a recognized exception to the warrant requirement.” State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011). These exceptions include the following: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest, (2) hot pursuit, (3) stop and frisk, (4) automobile exception, (5) the plain view doctrine, (6) consent, and (7) abandonment. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 185, 754 S.E.2d 862, 870 (2014). Under certain circumstances, the governmental interest in officer safety can also justify certain measures to protect the police or public. See Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 109 (1977).

In the present case, the trial court’s denial of the motion to suppress was grounded in two theories – plain view and officer safety. App. 76, ll. 10-23. The trial court rejected the prosecution’s abandonment argument. App. 72, ll. 1-9. The PCR court found that Henson was not prejudiced because both the plain view doctrine and abandonment justified the officers in

removing the camera and debit and credit cards out from under the car that was parked on Henson's property. App. 421 – 422.

The officer safety exception is perhaps the most easily dispensed with, as there was no testimony at the suppression hearing that the officers were motivated in any manner by officer safety to support the trial judge's finding. On the contrary, deputy Wilson was very specific that he knew the item thrown was a camera and was unaware of the debit and credit cards until the other deputy found them. Though there has been no report of a robbery, the officers were looking at the items to "determin[e] if it was his or somebody else's," which they could not do without removing the items from under the car. App. 39, l. 20 – 40, l. 20; App. 42, l. 8 – 44, l. 21; App. 45, l. 15 – 46, l. 1. Further, Henson was immediately arrested, handcuffed, and taken to a police car, such that there was no risk that he could reach any potentially dangerous item under the car. App. 41, l. 12 – 42, l. 4; see also App. 153, ll. 3-17; App. 160, l. 24 – 161, l. 2. See Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009) (finding that if the arrestee was already secured and outside of reaching distance from the passenger compartment of the vehicle at the time of the search, a search could not be justified under the traditional rationale of protecting officer safety and preventing the destruction of evidence). Thus, there was no evidence to support the trial judge's finding that officer safety justified the search.

The plain view doctrine is also inapplicable in the present case. "Under the 'plain view' exception to the warrant requirement, objects falling within the plain view of a law enforcement officer who is rightfully in a position to view the objects are subject to seizure and may be introduced as evidence." State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 443, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011) (quoting State v. Beckham, 334 S.C. 302, 317, 513 S.E.2d 606, 613 (1999)). The two elements needed to satisfy the plain view exception are: "(1) the initial intrusion which afforded the

authorities the plain view was lawful and (2) the incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities.” Id. In Wright, the items seen in plain view were obviously dogfighting paraphernalia, including the dogfighting pit, dog muzzles, drugs, syringes, several injured dogs, and a dog suspension collar. Id. at 445-46, 706 S.E.2d at 328. This Court ruled that “[t]he incriminating nature of this evidence was immediately apparent considering the deputies were there to investigate a tip concerning dogfighting.” Id. at 445-46, 706 S.E.2d at 328.

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