STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Spartanburg County
The Honorable Frank R. Addy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2017-001273

Alfred Guy Henson,

Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

LINDSEY A. MCCALLISTER
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar #79054

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

JUL 16 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

When a PCR applicant claims ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failure to preserve an issue for appellate review, an applicant must establish the underlying claim is meritorious and would have resulted in a reversal on appeal to a reasonable probability. McHam, 404 S.C. 465, 475-76, 746 S.E.2d 41, 47 (2013) (“Since the Fourth Amendment issue was not considered on direct appeal because it was unpreserved, an examination of the merits of the issue is appropriate in analyzing the prejudice prong in McHam’s PCR claim.”) (citing Sikes v. State, 323 S.C. 28, 30, 448 S.E.2d 560, 562 (1994) (“When the defendant claims that counsel’s failure to articulate a

Fourth Amendment claim was ineffective assistance, [the] defendant must show that such claim is **meritorious** and that the verdict would have been different absent the evidence that should have been excluded.” (emphasis in McHam). Therefore, before a post-conviction relief court can find an applicant has prevailed on a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel for failing to preserve a ground for appellate review, the court must determine the underlying claim was meritorious and there was a reasonable probability that it would have resulted in reversal and a new trial on direct appeal.

Here, the PCR court found Counsel was deficient in failing to renew his objection to the admission of the camera and credit cards, but found Petitioner was not prejudiced because he would not have prevailed on appeal had the issue been preserved. App. p. 421. The State concedes Counsel was deficient for failing to contemporaneously object to the admission of the challenged evidence, rendering it unpreserved for direct appellate review. However, the PCR court correctly denied relief because Petitioner failed to prove the second prong – that his Fourth Amendment claim was meritorious and would have resulted in reversal on appeal.

“Evidence seized in violation of the Fourth Amendment must be excluded from trial. Generally, a warrantless search is *per se* unreasonable and violates the Fourth Amendment prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures.” State v. Freiburger, 366 S.C. 125, 131, 620 S.E.2d 737, 740 (2005) (internal citations omitted). However, because the ultimate touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is “reasonableness,” the warrant requirement is subject to certain exceptions. State v. Herring, 387 S.C. 201, 210, 692 S.E.2d 490, 494 (2009) (citing Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967)). “These exceptions include: (1) search incident to a lawful arrest; (2) hot pursuit; (3) stop and frisk; (4) automobile exception; (5) the plain view

doctrine; (6) consent; and (7) abandonment.” Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. 169, 185, 754 S.E.2d 862, 870 (2014) (quoting State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 89, 736 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2012)).

The trial court denied Counsel’s motion to suppress on the basis of the plain view exception to the warrant requirement, as well as the officer safety exception during a search incident to arrest. App. p. 76. Under the plain view doctrine, “objects falling within the plain view of a law enforcement officer who is rightfully in a position to view the objects, are subject to seizure and may be introduced as evidence.” Id. at 186, 754 S.E.2d at 870-71 (quoting State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 443, 706 S.E.2d 324, 327 (2011)). Therefore, if the State can show (1) the initial intrusion which afforded the police officers the plain view of the evidence was lawful; and (2) the incriminating nature of the evidence was immediately apparent to the seizing authorities, the evidence is lawfully seized under the plain view exception and may be admitted. Id. at 186, 754 S.E.2d at 871.

In Petitioner’s case, the trial court found “the police were legally on the property of the defendant. . . because of the traffic stop and had a right to be there, [] the items that they saw under the car were in plain view once they were legally on the property. . .” and “a viewing of those items would have indicated that there was a possibility or potential for criminal activity that would require additional investigation. . . .” App. p. 76. The trial court additionally found the officers were justified in retrieving the items due to officer safety because “items being tossed under the vehicle during the stop would be such that police officers would have a right to look.” App. p. 76. The State also argued Petitioner abandoned the items by throwing them under the car, though the trial court rejected that argument.¹ App. p. 72.

¹ The State declines to address officer safety or the abandonment exception at this time, as the State believes this issue is resolved by the application of the plain view exception, or in the alternative, as a search incident to arrest. However, should this Court grant certiorari on this

At trial, Petitioner conceded the officers were lawfully on the property in order to effectuate the traffic stop and arrest for driving the moped without a license. App. p. 75. However, Petitioner's argument at trial and in his petition is that the incriminating nature of the items was not immediately apparent and could only be ascertained by additional investigation – i.e. getting down on a knee to pick up the credit cards and reading the name or turning on the camera and looking at the pictures – because at the time of the traffic stop, officers were not aware of the burglary of the victim's home, as she had not yet reported it. App. p. 48, 73; PWC p. 12.

During the suppression hearing, Deputy Wilson testified the car in question was no more than two or three feet from the moped, and the cards and camera were in the grass under the car. App. p. 44. The officers clearly testified upon looking at the cards, they could see the victim's name and a picture of a black female.² App. pp. 51-52. Although Wilson testified the officers could not determine whose name was on the cards without removing them from underneath the car, Wilson was not the officer who retrieved the camera and/or the cards. App. pp. 43-44. The officer who removed the credit cards from under the car testified at trial he was told where the camera had been recovered, so he did a second look and “as soon as [he] looked under there, [he] saw three credit cards.” App. pp. 161-62.

Wilson further testified he could tell immediately that the camera Petitioner threw was a “a good size camera, . . . one of those larger . . . digital cameras” which raised his suspicions because “[he] knew it wasn't normal behavior for a person to jump off the moped and throw a camera underneath the car. . . . [He] didn't know if [they] had a car breaking or what had just

issue, Respondent requests the opportunity to address abandonment and officer safety through further briefing.

² Petitioner is a white male. App. p. 388.

happened. . . so [they] were trying to determine. . . ownership of the camera.” App. pp. 40, 45. Similarly, in making his ruling on the admission of the evidence, the trial judge clearly stated his reasoning that the act of throwing the items gave the officers reason to believe the items were incriminating. The judge stated, “[Counsel], had they pulled him over, and gotten out of the car and he stood there beside his moped, didn’t do anything, I’m with you. But if they see somebody throw something under a vehicle when he’s being stopped, that raises a suspicion in my mind.” App. p. 69.

The United States Supreme Court explained the “immediately incriminating” prong in Texas v. Brown, equating it with probable cause. 460 U.S. 730, 742 (1983) (“We think this statement of the rule. . . requiring probable cause for seizure in the ordinary case, is consistent with the Fourth Amendment and we reaffirm it here.”); see also Arizona v. Hicks, 480 U.S. 321, 326 (1987) (holding probable cause is required for a search to be valid under the plain-view doctrine). The Brown court explained, “[p]lain view’ is perhaps better understood. . . not as an independent ‘exception’ to the warrant clause, but simply as an extension of whatever the prior justification for an officer’s ‘access to the object’ may be.” Id. at 738-39. The plain-view doctrine “provides grounds for seizure of an item when an officer’s access to an object has some prior justification under the Fourth Amendment.” Id. at 738. “In light of the private and governmental interests just outlined, our decisions have come to reflect the rule that *if, while lawfully engaged in an activity in a particular place, police officers perceive a suspicious object, they may seize it immediately.*” Id. at 739 (emphasis added).

In Brown, the officer stopped defendant’s car at a driver’s license checkpoint. Id. at 733. As the officer stood by Brown’s driver’s side door and shined his flashlight into the car, Brown reached across to the passenger’s side to open the glove compartment, and removed a hand from

his pocket and dropped “an opaque, green party balloon, knotted about one half inch from the tip” onto the floor of the vehicle. Id. Because of his previous experience, the officer was aware that drugs were frequently packaged in balloons like the one he saw emerge from Brown’s pocket. Id. at 734. Upon seeing the balloon, the officer “shifted his position in order to obtain a better view of the open glove compartment and saw several plastic vials, an open bag of party balloons, and a white powdery substance. Id. The officer then asked Brown to exit the vehicle and stand at the rear of the car. Id. Before following Brown, the officer reached into the car and picked up the green balloon. Id.

In Petitioner’s case, as in Brown, there is no question as to the validity of the initial stop. Id. at 739. Petitioner conceded as much as trial. App. p. 75. Additionally, the officers in Petitioner’s case clearly had probable cause to suspect the items thrown by Petitioner were contraband. “In dealing with probable cause. . . as the very name implies, we deal with probabilities. These are not technical; they are the factual and practical considerations of everyday life on which reasonable and prudent men, not legal technicians, act.” State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 458, 462 S.E. 2d 279, 282 (1995) (quoting Brinegar v. United States, 338 U.S. 160, 175 (1949)). “Probable cause exists where ‘the facts and circumstances within their (the officers’) knowledge and of which they had reasonably trustworthy information [are] sufficient in themselves to warrant a man of reasonable caution in the belief that’ an offense has been or is being committed.” Brinegar, 338 U.S. at 175–76 (quoting Carroll v. United States, 267 U.S. 132, 162 (1925)).

Further, “[t]he theory of [the plain view] doctrine consists of extending to nonpublic places such as the home, where searches and seizures without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable, the police’s longstanding authority to make warrantless seizures in public places

of such objects as weapons and contraband.” Hicks, 480 U.S. at 326–27. As the deputy in Petitioner’s case explained, “it wasn’t normal behavior” for a person, upon realizing he is being pursued by police officers, to throw a digital camera, clearly an object of some value, onto the ground underneath an adjacent parked car. App. pp. 40, 45. The clear implication of such behavior is that the item is being thrown in an attempt to conceal its existence because it is contraband. Additionally, although the officers did not specifically see the credit cards being thrown, one officer testified he saw Petitioner throw two smaller objects along with the camera, and the officer who found the credit cards knew the camera had been recovered from that spot moments earlier. App. pp. 154, 161-62. Any reasonable officer in a similar position would have retrieved the items from beneath the car. See State v. Wright, 416 S.C. 353, 369, 785 S.E.2d 479, 487 (Ct. App. 2016) (“In the Fourth Amendment context, a court is concerned with determining whether a reasonable officer would be moved to take action.”) (citation omitted).

Finally, the search-incident-to-arrest exception is an additional sustaining ground upon which the appellate court could uphold the admission of the evidence. I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (“Under the present rules, a respondent—the ‘winner’ in the lower court—may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.”) As discussed above, a search incident to a lawful arrest is an exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement. Robinson v. State, 407 S.C. at 185, 754 S.E.2d at 870. During a search incident to arrest, an officer may search “the arrestee’s person and the area within his immediate control,” which is defined as “the area from within which he might gain possession of a weapon or destructible evidence.” Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752, 763 (1969). In United States v. Robinson, the Supreme Court held

searches of an arrestee's person, including his or her clothing and personal effects, require "no additional justification" beyond the validity of the initial arrest. 414 U.S. 218, 224 (1973). Petitioner conceded the validity of the arrest at trial, and the officers testified the credit cards and camera were recovered within a few feet of where Petitioner was standing when arrested. App. pp. 44, 75.

On appeal from a motion to suppress, appellate courts will only reverse the trial court if there is clear error and will affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling. State v. Khingratsaiphon, 352 S.C. 62, 70, 572 S.E.2d 456, 459-60 (2002). The trial court correctly found the items were seized pursuant to the plain view exception to the warrant requirement as there was no dispute the officers were lawfully on Petitioner's property, and upon seeing him throw the camera, they had probable cause to believe Petitioner was attempting to hide contraband or other evidence of a crime. Further, the search-incident-to-arrest exception is an additional sustaining ground. Therefore, despite Counsel's deficient performance in failing to renew his objection at trial, the PCR court correctly denied relief because the trial court would have overruled the objection, and Petitioner is not reasonably likely to have prevailed on direct appeal. This Court should therefore deny the petition as to this ground.

II. **There is probative evidence in the record to support the PCR court's finding Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's decision to recall Deputy Wilson, thus losing the last closing argument, because it is not reasonably likely to have changed the outcome at trial where nothing in the State's argument required rebuttal and there was strong evidence of Petitioner's guilt.**

Petitioner argues he was prejudiced when trial counsel chose to recall Officer Wilson in the defense's case, thus losing the last closing argument, because trial counsel could have elicited the same testimony on cross-examination.³ PWC p. 14. However, the PCR court correctly

³ Petitioner also alleges Counsel improperly defined reasonable doubt and takes issue with the

found Petitioner was not prejudiced by Counsel's decision where the State did not introduce any new arguments which would have required a rebuttal, and where the order of argument is not reasonably likely to have had an effect on the outcome of the trial because there was overwhelming evidence of guilt. App. pp. 422-23.

“An error by counsel, even if professionally unreasonable, does not warrant setting aside the judgment of a criminal proceeding if the error had no effect on the judgment.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693. Therefore, “[w]hen a defendant challenges a conviction, the question is whether there is a reasonable probability that, absent the errors, the factfinder would have had a reasonable doubt respecting guilt.” Id. at 695. See also State v. Mouzon, 326 S.C. 199, 204, 485 S.E.2d 918, 921 (1997) (“Although the right to open and close the argument to the jury has been described as ‘a substantial right, the denial of which is reversible error,’ . . . such an error is still subject harmless error analysis.”). Counsel’s decision to recall Deputy Wilson to the stand, even if deficient, had no effect on the outcome of the trial because, despite Petitioner’s contention to the contrary, the State did not introduce any new theories or arguments during closing which Counsel was unable to address, and there was strong evidence of Petitioner’s guilt. Therefore, Petitioner was not prejudiced by any deficiency.

In closing, Counsel focused on calling the timeline of the robbery into question and pointing out the weaknesses of the State’s case in meeting all the elements of the first-degree burglary charge – specifically showing Petitioner had entered the house himself. App. pp. 237-

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